
SOLIHULL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Monday 22nd March 2021 at 6pm 

Online meeting via YouTube 

 
 

ARRANGEMENTS FOR PUBLIC ACCESS TO REMOTE MEETINGS 
 

During the Covid 19 pandemic virtual meetings are taking place. 
 
PLEASE NOTE that any member of the press and public may listen to proceedings at 
this virtual meeting via a weblink which will be publicised on the Council website at 
least 24hrs before the meeting. 
 
To view live paste this link into your browser: 
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UC7DDSVoAIgTnwgp0Ku8iFLQ 
 
 
Members of the press and public may tweet, blog etc. during the live broadcast, as 
they would be able to during a regular Committee meeting in the Council Offices. 
It is important, however, that Councillors can discuss and take decisions without 
disruption, so the only participants in this virtual meeting will be the Councillors 
concerned and the officers advising the Committee. 
 
 

 

 

 
 
 

Health and Adult Social Care 
Scrutiny Board  

 

Public Document Pack

https://www.youtube.com/channel/UC7DDSVoAIgTnwgp0Ku8iFLQ


Disclosing Pecuniary Interests - What Must You Do? 

 

 (a) You must complete a declaration of your disclosable pecuniary interests, including those of 
your spouse/civil partner (or someone with whom you are living as such) and send it to the 
Monitoring Officer within 28 days of your election or appointment to the Council. 

(b)  When you attend a meeting of the Council, Cabinet, Scrutiny Board, Committee, Sub-
Committee or Joint Committee etc, and a matter arises in which you have a disclosable pecuniary 
interest, unless you have been granted a dispensation, you must: 

 Declare the interest if you have not already registered it 

 Not participate in any discussion or vote 

 Leave the meeting room until the matter has been dealt with 

 Give written notice of any unregistered interest to the Monitoring Officer within 28 days of 
the meeting 

(c) If you are the Leader or a Cabinet Portfolio Holder you may not exercise any of your 
delegated powers as a single member in relation to a matter in which you have a disclosable 
pecuniary interest or take any other step except to give written notice of any unregistered interest 
to the Monitoring Officer within 28 days of your becoming aware of the interest, or arrange for 
another person or body to deal with the matter. 

 

Disclosable Interest 

 

Description 

Employment, office, 
trade, profession or 
vocation 

Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit or gain by you 
or your partner. 

Sponsorship Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than from the Council) 
made or provided within 12 months of your declaration of interests in respect of any 
expenses incurred by you in carrying out duties as a member, or towards your election 
expenses. 

Contracts Any contract between you or your partner (or a firm or body corporate in which you or 
your partner is a partner or a director, or in the securities of which you or your partner 
has a beneficial interest)) and the Council  
(a) under which goods or services are to be provided or works are to be executed; and 
(b) which has not been fully discharged. 

Land Any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the Council and which gives you 
or your partner a right to occupy the land or receive income. 

Licences Any licence held by you or your partner (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the 
area of the Council for a month or longer. 

Corporate tenancies Any tenancy where (to your knowledge)— 
(a) the landlord is the Council; and 
(b) the tenant is a body in which you or your partner has a beneficial interest i.e. a firm or 
body corporate in which you or your partner is a partner or a director, or in the securities 
of which you or your partner has a beneficial interest. 

Securities Any beneficial interest held by you or your partner in securities of a body where— 
 
(a) that body (to your knowledge) has a place of business or land in the area of the 
Council; and 
(b) either— 

(i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one hundredth of 
the total issued share capital of that body; or 
 
(ii) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total nominal 
value of the shares of any one class in which you or your partner has a 
beneficial interest exceeds one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that 
class. 

“securities” means shares, debentures, debenture stock, loan stock, bonds, units of a 
collective investment scheme within the meaning of the Financial Services and Markets 
Act 2000 and other securities of any description, other than money deposited with a 
building society. 



 
  

SOLIHULL METROPOLITAN  
BOROUGH COUNCIL 



 
To: 
Councillors Mrs D Holl-Allen MBE 
(Chairman), K Blunt (Vice-Chairman), 
A Adeyemo, J Burn, A Hodgson, D Howell, 
A Mackenzie, W Qais and R Sexton 
 

 
NICK PAGE 
CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
 
Council House, Manor Square 
Solihull, West Midlands. B91 3QB 
Tel. 0121-704 6000  
 
Contact: Joe Suffield 
Tel: 0121 704 6104 
Email: joe.suffield@solihull.gov.uk 
 
Date Friday 12 March 2021 
 

 
HEALTH AND ADULT SOCIAL CARE SCRUTINY BOARD - Monday 22 

March 2021 
 

AGENDA 
 
Mayor/Chairman of the meeting to announce: 
 
‘May I remind everyone present that this meeting will be broadcast live via the 

internet.’ 
 

1.  APOLOGIES  
 

2.  DECLARATION OF INTERESTS  
 

To receive declarations of interest from Members. 
 

3.  QUESTIONS AND DEPUTATIONS  
 

To answer any questions, if any asked by any resident of the Borough pursuant 
to Standing Orders. 
 

4.  MINUTES (Pages 5 - 8) 
 

To receive the minutes of the previous meeting held on 17th February 2021. 
 

5.  CABINET MEMBER REVIEW OF PRIORITIES INCLUDING WORK OF 
HEALTH & WELLBEING BOARD (Pages 9 - 20) 
 

For the Health and Adult Social Care Scrutiny Board to note the progress made 
against Cabinet Member priorities for 2020/21. 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



 
HEALTH AND ADULT SOCIAL CARE SCRUTINY BOARD - 17 February 2021 

 
 

 

1  

MINUTES 

 
 
Present: Councillors: Mrs D Holl-Allen MBE (Chairman), K Blunt (Vice-

Chairman), A Adeyemo, J Burn, A Hodgson, D Howell, 
A Mackenzie, W Qais and R Sexton 
 

Officers: Karen Murphy – Assistant Director for Adult Care and Support 
Joe Suffield – Democratic Services Officer 
Ruth Tennant – Director for Public Health 
 

External 
Representatives: 

Clara Day – Clinical Lead (University Hospitals Birmingham) 
Tom O’Sullivan – Executive Lead (Sollivac) 
Paul Sherriff – Director of Organisational Development and 
Partnerships (Birmingham and Solihull Clinical Commissioning 
Group) 
 

  
 

1. APOLOGIES  
 
No apologies were received. 
 

2. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS  
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

3. QUESTIONS AND DEPUTATIONS  
 
No questions or deputations were submitted. 
 

4. MINUTES  
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 7th January 2021 were presented for 
approval. 
 

RESOLVED 
The minutes of the meeting held on 7th January 2021 were approved. 

 
5. UPDATE ON THE SOLIHULL COVID-19 VACCINATION PROGRAMME  

 
The Director of Organisational Development and Partnerships for Birmingham 
and Solihull Clinical Commissioning Group (BSol CCG) introduced the item. 
The focus of the programme to date had been on the nationally defined priority 
groups 1-4, however they had started to vaccinate Cohorts 5 and 6. The supply 
of vaccines was linked to the population size of the priority Cohorts; which as a 
result limited the number of vaccines available. Plans had been arranged to 
prepare for when people required their second dose. There had been lots of 
engagement and joined up working between organisations such as local 
Primary Care Networks (PCNs), University Hospitals Birmingham (UHB) and 

Page 5

Agenda Item 4



 
HEALTH AND ADULT SOCIAL CARE SCRUTINY BOARD - 17 February 2021 

 
 

 

2  

Local Authorities. They recognised that the data and information BSol CCG 
received should be available to the public for scrutiny and aimed to make this 
easier to receive. 
 
The Executive Lead for Sollivac introduced his presentation and raised the key 
points: 

 Sollivac was set up to support the COVID-19 vaccination programme 
from four locations in the Borough through GPs and Solihull Community 
Nurses.  

 For Cohorts 1-4, there had been an uptake of 93%, and Cohort 5 would 
be completed within the next week. Sollivac worked alongside Mass 
Vaccination Sites (MVS) to enable the rapid roll out of this programme. 

 The new definitions of those who should shield had been assessed and 
applied to local residents, as well as those who were carers. 

 The vaccination programme had put a strain on the workforce. Staff had 
gone above and beyond to support the programme, and some non-
essential activity had to be paused. To support and sustain the 
programme, there was a significant recruitment drive for additional staff.  

 There remained a number of concerns which included tight planning 
timelines, public support and the ramifications of restrictions being 
eased. 

 Alongside the vaccination programme, GPs continued other activities 
through the Winter Operating model. 

 
Members commented on the briefing and asked the following questions: 

 A Member sought confirmation where the four PCN vaccination sites in 
the Borough were located. They were situated at Chelmsley Wood 
Primary Care Centre, Balsall Common Medical Centre, Richmond 
Medical Centre and Monkspath Surgery. 

 A Member highlighted that some residents had received letters to invite 
them to be vaccinated at both the MVS and PCN sites, and asked 
whether it was clear that residents could wait to be vaccinated at a local 
site if they were unable to travel to the MVS. Also, they queried about 
reports people were able to book a vaccine appointment even though 
they were not eligible. The Clinical Lead for UHB confirmed that there 
was coordination between MVS and PCN sites, and the letter for the 
mass site stated that residents could choose to wait for their GP to 
contact them. It was noted that there had been an issue with the booking 
system, but the incident raised had been resolved, and extra work had 
taken place to ensure it would not happen again. 

 Members enquired about vaccine hesitancy, and what data had been 
collated about this. The Director for Public Health explained that data 
had started to be made available on this. A group had been set up with 
partner organisations to look at inequalities and public concern about the 
vaccine as the programme evolved. This would lead to engagement with 
the communities affected in the future. The Executive Lead confirmed 
that a number of steps had been taken to reassure residents about the 
vaccine and they had taken time to have conversations with those who 
were concerned. 

Page 6



 
HEALTH AND ADULT SOCIAL CARE SCRUTINY BOARD - 17 February 2021 

 
 

 

3  

 A Member asked about how localised messaging could be used help to 
reassure local residents. The Executive Lead confirmed that there had 
been local communications which outlined that PCN sites would contact 
residents eligible for the vaccine. The Director of Organisational 
Development and Partnerships noted that as they worked through the 
Cohorts they would alter the messages shared. 

 A Member queried what happened to vaccines which were left over and 
would otherwise be unusable. The Executive Lead provided information 
on the operation of the vaccine roll out at PCN sites, and explained that 
there was a recall list if any doses remained. 

 Another Member wanted confirmation that residents who refused the 
offer of the vaccine, would still be eligible in the future. The Executive 
Lead confirmed they would still be eligible for the vaccine and would 
need to contact their local GP. 

 Members sought clarification about the recent changes to the shielded 
list. The Clinical Lead outlined the process that had been undertaken to 
determine who should now shield, and explained that this assisted the 
vaccination programme as it enabled the most vulnerable to be 
prioritised. The Executive Lead clarified that this was an additional 106 
people, and that this included those who had severe asthma. 

 Members asked whether there were any concerns about increased 
pressure on delivery when residents would be eligible for their second 
dose. The Executive Lead explained that this potential issue centred on 
supply and if this was low, it would mean they would have to prioritise 
second doses. The Clinical Lead affirmed that the MVS would become 
crucial as the programme progressed and the more mobile Cohorts 
began to maximise their use. It was also noted that there would be 
extended hours to enable the Cohorts who were more likely to work to 
have the vaccine. The Director for Public Health noted that engagement 
was crucial to ensure that people were able to access services at 
appropriate locations. 

 Members sought further information on which carers would be eligible for 
the vaccine and what support was provided to enable them to access it. 
The Clinical Lead stated that there had been close work with GPs, they 
had contacted those who received carers allowance and engaged with 
carers charities. The Assistant Director for Adult Care and Support noted 
that they had liaised with Carers Trust Solihull to identify carers who 
would be eligible. 

 A Member enquired about whether the communications about the 
vaccine needed to reinforce a positive message. The Director for Public 
Health explained that positive reinforcement was important and they 
tried to use medical professionals and peers who had been vaccinated 
to assist with this. A communications pack had been created which 
included key messages and questions. 

 A Member asked for clarification about whether those who tested 
positive for COVID-19 could have the vaccine, and would the vaccine 
have a negative impact if an asymptomatic COVID-19 positive resident 
had the vaccine. The Clinical Lead outlined that people with positive test 
results should not have the vaccine within 28 days, but should still have 

Page 7



 
HEALTH AND ADULT SOCIAL CARE SCRUTINY BOARD - 17 February 2021 

 
 

 

4  

the vaccine after this period. It would not have a negative effect for those 
who were asymptomatic. 

 A Member questioned how many housebound residents still required a 
vaccine, and what support had been provided. The Executive Lead 
confirmed that 98% of those eligible had been given the first dose of the 
vaccine, but this was a list that changed frequently and continually 
reassessed. 

 A Member asked for further information on the expectations for the 
supply of vaccines over the coming months. The Executive Lead 
explained that local vaccination sites had one to two weeks’ notice for 
vaccines, which made it difficult to plan. There had been assurances 
from NHS England that that stock would be able to meet the second 
dose for eligible residents. 

 A Member sought more information on data in relation to outcomes, and 
how this was matched with vaccination records. The Clinical Lead 
highlighted there was a reporting mechanism for those who tested 
positive after having the vaccination and there was a “yellow card” 
system where reports of positive tests were recorded. The Director for 
Public Health noted that there was a national programme to understand 
where there had been cases after vaccination and vaccination efficacy. 
The processes were in place to capture the data but this was not 
available at the moment as it was not ready. There were also studies to 
monitor the effectiveness of the vaccine. 

 
RESOLVED 
The Board noted the work undertaken locally to support the roll out of the 
COVID-19 vaccine. 

 
 
 

The meeting finished at 7.55 pm 

Page 8



 

 
 

 
Meeting date: 22nd March 2021 

 
Report to: Health and Adult Social Care Scrutiny 

Board  

Subject/report 
title: 

Cabinet Member review of priorities including work of Health & 
Wellbeing Board   

Report from: Cllr Karen Grinsell 

Report 
author/lead 
contact officer: 

Cllr Karen Grinsell 

 
 
Wards affected:  
☒ All Wards | ☐ Bickenhill | ☐ Blythe | ☐ Castle Bromwich | ☐ Chelmsley Wood | 
☐ Dorridge/Hockley Heath | ☐ Elmdon | ☐ Kingshurst/Fordbridge | ☐ Knowle | 
☐ Lyndon | ☐ Meriden | ☐ Olton | ☐ Shirley East | ☐ Shirley South | 
☐ Shirley West | ☐ Silhill | ☐ Smith’s Wood | ☐ St Alphege 

Public/private 
report: 

Public 

 
 
1. Purpose of Report 

1.1 For Health & Adult Social Care Scrutiny Board to note the progress made against 
Cabinet Member priorities for 2020/21. 

2. Decision(s) recommended 

2.1 For noting. 

3. Matters for Consideration 

3.1 Ongoing Covid-19 Impact Management  

Our Covid response has been a major focus in 2020/21. As well as requiring a 
significant response, led by the Strategic Response Group and supported by the Local 
Outbreak Management Board and dedicated Incident Management Teams, it has also 
had an impact on all aspects of business as usual.  

Throughout this, regular updates have been provided through formal and informal 
channels including the Health and Well-being Board, Council and bi-weekly informal 
briefings for HASCSB members, led by the Director of Public Health. 

The pandemic has seen the establishment by SMBC of dedicated support for people 
who are clinical extremely vulnerable, a contact tracing service which continues to be 
expanded with further localisation of the national service in train to support the on-
going response, the establishment of community testing sites and on-going outbreak 
management support across schools, workplaces, care home. Initiatives such as the 

Page 9

Agenda Item 5



 

 
 

Community Champions Scheme, a widespread programme of communications and 
engagement through SMBC channels, with partners and through local community 
groups and the local voluntary and community sector (VCS) has also been a key part 
of the local response. 

SMBC has also played a key role in Covid prevention and Covid secure measures: 
this has been wide ranging in scope covering PPE supply, advice and guidance to 
front-line staff and providers, Covid secure measures in our town centres and public 
spaces and the work of the Public Engagement Team who continue to be ‘on the 
ground’ supporting a wide range of ‘hot spot’ areas and areas of concern identified 
through local epidemiological surveillance and public intelligence. 

Business, retail and workplace compliance has also been a key part of our response, 
working directly with key sectors and working with our environmental health, specialist 
public health and enforcement capacity. 

The Local Outbreak Management Plan which describes our strategic response to the 
on-going pandemic over the next few months is being updated to describe what needs 
to be in place to retain key aspects of our response to manage any surge in cases or 
outbreaks or respond to new variants. Additional funding will be in place to support 
delivery. 

A hospital admission avoidance pilot service has been commissioned by the 
Council and CCG to provide an immediate response where an unnecessary hospital 
admission would have otherwise been needed.  This service is part of the local 
response to Covid-19, helping to reduce the pressure on hospital beds.   

Known as the Solihull Community Rapid Intervention Service (SCRIS), the service can 
be used by people identified by community health or social care professionals as 
experiencing a crisis.   The service is delivered by Universal Care Services and has 
been operating since 13th January 2021.       

SCRIS offers short-term support for up to 2 weeks.  There is no charge for the service. 
SCRIS has so far supported 40 people in urgent situations, enabling them to remain at 
home.  All have received a response within 2 hours of the need being identified.   

A pilot Home Discharge Service (HDS) has also been commissioned from 
Nationwide Care Services.  This service is intended to prevent delay in being able to 
return home after a hospital stay.  It supports the principle of ‘Home First’, the national 
policy of enabling recovery at home wherever possible instead of transferring to a care 
home.   

The HDS began on 12th November 2020 offering support 7 days a week, from 8am-
8pm.  The service has so far supported 260 people, with 96% having a service 
response on the same day as referral.  

Both SCRIS and HDS have accepted 100% of all referrals, including those identified 
as Covid positive.  They are able also to demonstrate high levels of satisfaction from 
their customers. The Covid-19 funding for both services ends at the end of March 
2021.  Service evaluation is underway and also work to identify funding for at least the 
next six months to continue these services until the pandemic is under control.  
Longer term need for such provision will then be reconsidered. 

Page 10



 

 
 

Care Sector Workforce: The care sector workforce has operated with outstanding 
dedication and compassion during the pandemic, adapting to the demands of infection 
control measures and striving to protect the most vulnerable to infection.  Additional 
capacity has been provided through the Infection Control Fund and Workforce 
Capacity Fund to ensure that care providers could bring in additional workers to 
manage the exceptional demands.   

Care Home Visiting: During the last year, a prolonged period without face to face 
visiting for care home residents was needed to minimise the risk of infection. From 
March 8th, new guidance came into effect in which each care home resident will be 
entitled to have one designated visitor.  Continued support to care providers is 
planned to help them to arrange these visits, ensuring that infection control and the 
wellbeing of all residents are the focus for efforts.   

Outbreaks: Covid-19 outbreaks have been monitored daily, with advice and support 
offered to community and care home services to protect residents and assist staff with 
expertise, when needed.  After a further period of high levels of infection affecting 
residents, people in the community and care home workers, the rate of infection 
affecting care homes in particular has now dropped significantly.  Homes closed to 
new admissions after outbreaks of infection have begun to reopen once again.   

The Adult Care and Support response to Covid-19 has continued to be flexible in line 
with impact on services and demand. The impact of Covid-19 has been closely 
monitored and additional resources have been procured to ensure that people 
continue to receive timely, good quality support. This has included additional Social 
Work capacity as well as the services outlined above. Important priorities have 
continued to be maintained, including ensuring there were available supplies of PPE 
to deal with any outbreaks or changes in Covid-19 levels locally, and maintaining 
timely responses to Covid-related and none Covid-related adult social care contacts. 

3.2 Health and Well-being Strategy  

The Health and Wellbeing Strategy was updated in 2020 to reflect shifting priorities 
due to the response and impact of Covid-19. There were significant updates to the 
objectives in Priority 2: Adulthood and Work, and the addition of Priority 5: All-age: 
Impact of the Covid-19 Pandemic. These changes were reflected in an updated 
Health and Wellbeing scorecard, used by the Health and Wellbeing Board, as 
oversight of progress against the Strategy priorities. Data for the revised scorecard 
performance indicators have been updated and reported at the last two Health and 
Wellbeing Boards (Jan 2021 and March 2021). More work is planned to develop the 
scorecard indicators further. For example, many are new measures, so data flow and 
reporting mechanisms are still being developed in some cases by external partners; 
we also want to ensure they appropriately drive performance outside of the Health and 
Wellbeing Board oversight, and ensure transparency on how targets have been set 
now, and in the future. 

3.3 Health Inequalities  

In developing the Health Inequalities Strategy and Action Plan, we have adopted a 
three-step-process: 

• Step 1: Understand where we are now: our strengths, weaknesses, threats and 
opportunities  

Page 11



 

 
 

• Step 2: Establish where Solihull wants to be: a collective understanding, 
leading to priority setting  

• Step 3: Plan how we will get there: a shared action plan  

Step 1 was an evidence gathering process to establish what we know about health 
inequalities in our area today. This drew on relevant national, regional and local data, 
before and during Covid-19. For example, our JSNA, local impact of Covid-19 on 
inequalities report and relevant service data. This also included insights from what 
communities are telling us is important, for example, through our existing community 
champion networks, regional engagement activities around the differential impact of 
Covid on BAME groups, from service users, and in collaboration with organisations 
such as Health Watch. 

Step 2. Having reviewed the available evidence, we produced a long list of 9 potential 
action areas and brought partners together to prioritise a smaller number.  

Step 3. Once broad priorities were agreed we sought pledges for action against each 
of the priority areas, forming a shared action plan.  

We are currently at step 3 with provisional priorities and action plans agreed. 

More engagement is planned to shape these priorities further.  This includes 
engagement within the Council and with key Health and Wellbeing Board partners 
(including education and schools, local primary care networks and the emerging 
Integrated Care System inequalities programme) prior to sign off by the Health and 
Wellbeing Board. This will also include engagement with local communities working 
through our localities structure and wider VCS and community partnerships.  

The West Midlands Combined Authority are also actively looking at how they can add 
value to the health inequalities work at a sub-regional level and we are engaged in this 
work to ensure that there are clear links between the two. 

A key immediate system priority has also been local work to ensure an equitable roll 
out of Covid-vaccine to eligible groups. This includes proactively engaging residents 
known to have low uptake of the Covid-19 vaccine, through for example, community 
champions, faith leader forums and other local networks. This is driven by vaccine 
uptake data directly, or where that is not available, from uptake of vaccines in the 
past. We have also completed an equity impact assessment for the vaccine roll out to 
aide our thinking of the different groups that might have vaccine hesitancy as well as 
sharing learning and common issues with our Birmingham colleagues. 

3.4 Immunisations and Vaccinations  

Vaccination roll-out is progressing at pace led by the NHS with support from the local 
authority to identify lower uptake communities and to liaise with community groups 
and community leadership. The Director of Public Health co-leads a joint Vaccine 
Inequalities Uptake Group across BSOL to ensure coverage is reaching all our 
communities for both first and second doses.  

Ensuring a high take-up of Covid-19 vaccination among the workforce has been a key 
priority. The local authority was tasked with identifying employers and working with the 
local vaccination delivery systems to see that care workers in the first priority group to 

Page 12



 

 
 

receive the vaccine were able to do so.  Current intelligence tells us that 66% of the 
external workforce has taken up the opportunity to be vaccinated.  Of Council 
workforce eligible, 75.6% have taken up the vaccine to date. Personal Assistants 
employed directly to provide care and support through a direct payment have a 
vaccine take up rate of 71.3%.   Information and support is being provided to support 
staff to take up the vaccination, including webinars with doctors to enable people to 
have their concerns addressed, and a wealth of Public Health information is available 
in different forms.  Work continues to support staff to feel safe to take up the 
vaccination, responding to individual queries and requests for information. 

In our in-borough care homes there has been strong take up of the vaccine, with over 
90% of residents now vaccinated. Where residents have been unable to take up the 
vaccine when first offered, there are follow-ups arranged. The delivery of second 
doses to those residents is now underway from 8th March. 

3.5 Later Life Accommodation  

Since July 2020 there have been several new later life care accommodation options 
opened. These include Connaught House operated by Restful Homes, a home 
specialising in care for older people with mental health conditions and Shirley 
Retirement Village operated by the Extra Care Charitable Trust.  This major new extra 
care housing development is on the site of the former Powergen building in Shirley.  
Eastcote Park operated by Cinnamon Care is a combined retirement village and care 
home that has now received its CQC registration and is ready to admit residents. 
Further developments in Solihull have planning consent but are not yet operating.    

Work is underway on an assessment of future needs for community accommodation 
with care. This will form part of future market position statements to inform and enable 
developers to understand the balance of provision needed to ensure that residents’ 
needs and preferences can be met in the longer term.  The overarching aim is to help 
local people to plan for their later years, considering the costs of housing and care to 
enable informed choices. 

3.6 Commissioning services to reduce social isolation and support mental 
wellbeing  

To respond to Covid-19, the Social Isolation and Loneliness Group, set up a 
multiagency Task and Finish Group to implement a Digital Pilot Project. The aims of 
the project are to address digital exclusion in Solihull, by creating opportunities for 
communities to develop their digital competencies, enabling people to virtually 
connect and feel less isolated, be active and achieve education, employment or 
training benefits. 

In January 2021 we commissioned Solihull Age UK to facilitate the pilot project. We 
currently have 13 Volunteer Digital Champions who are supporting the delivery of the 
pilot. We have received 19 expressions of interest from residents. 6 of these have no 
computer or tablet and have confirmed they wish to take part in the pilot.  

Through a funding application, Solihull Libraries secured 10 laptops that will be used 
in the pilot. A report summarising the feedback from the pilot will be available in April 
2021. 

3.7 Digital  

Page 13



 

 
 

Digital has never been more important in Adult Social Care. Additional resources have 
been supporting advancement of use of digital to support people with care and needs. 
This has included access to the right technology and skills support for staff. Social 
care practitioners have worked remotely where possible, in order to reduce infection 
risks. This has involved use of video and telephone assessments. Practitioners have 
been positive about ongoing use of video calls to support their work and ensure that 
people are able to receive the support they need in a timely way. Practitioners have 
access to suitable technology to support video calling, and have been offered one-to-
one support and training opportunities to enhance their digital skills. Adult Care and 
Support held their first digital staff conference. This was a two-week programme of 
learning and development opportunities for the Directorate, culminating in a staff 
award ceremony held over video. Digital staff communication has been developed, 
including digital briefings for staff, video messages, and a digital managers’ forum. 

Adult Care and Support have also been involved in a national roll out of iPads to 
support care home residents to keep in touch with health and social care 
professionals and their friends and families. The development of Liquid Logic has 
continued, including working to enable people to access their records and interact with 
their Social Worker online. The use of Technology Enabled Care to support people to 
live independently has been promoted, with support from Solihull Community Housing. 

Web pages have also been simplified to enable people to access accurate information 
and advice at a time convenient for them. 

3.8 Mental Health and Wellbeing  

Solihull MBC are represented on the multi-agency BSol Mental Health Resilience 
meeting. We regularly service demand across the spectrum of mental health and 
agree systematic responses to address need. Solihull MBC have supported with the 
development and implementation of; 

• Single Point of Access Mental Health Helpline: BSOL CCG launched the 
Mental Health Helpline at the start of pandemic. The Helpline offers support for 
all levels of mental health, including suicidal ideation, and is monitored on a 
weekly basis. In March 2020, the service was receiving an average of 300 calls 
a week. With regular communications and support from our local communities 
to promote the service, the calls are now between 400 and 500 calls a week. 
The Helpline has been a crucial support service to the residents of Solihull 
throughout Covid and has provide important intelligence to inform the work we 
deliver locally.  

• Single Point of Access Bereavement Service: Solihull MBC collaborated 
with BSOL CCG to model and develop a single point of access bereavement 
service for the residents of Solihull and Birmingham. The service offers support 
for all ages, and all modes of bereavement, including suicide. The service has 
been extensively promoted and is monitored on a weekly basis.  

Mental Health Communications: Solihull MBC have supported with the development 
and promotion of the communications for both Mental Health and Bereavement. 

3.9 Bereavement Support  

Page 14



 

 
 

In response to the global pandemic, SMBC worked in collaboration with BSol CCG, to 
support the development of a single point of access for Bereavement Services. The 
service started 1st June 2020.  

The Bereavement Pathway consists of a collaboration between five providers; Cruse 
Bereavement, Solihull Bereavement, Marie Curie, Beyond the Horizon and 
Edwards Trust to offer an array of bereavement support to the population of 
Birmingham and Solihull. Marie Curie sub-contracts Beyond the Horizon and Edwards 
Trust. 

The pathway provides the primary point of contact, immediate support through triage 
and online resource as well as offering one to one and group support for complex 
needs. The support is offered in a confidential coordinated way, with specialist support 
for Adults, Children and Young People, Keyworkers, BAME communities and 
anybody who is affected by suicide. 

The latest report has analysed the data from 1st June 2020 to the end of November 
2020. The keys findings indicate; 

• An increase in demand - Between June and November 2020, a total of 1235 
people made contact with the Bereavement Service Single Point of Access line. 
776 people were offered specialised bereavement support between, and 
instant support through referral sources. 

• Using comparison data from June to November 2019 and June to November 
2020, an increase of 176 referrals was recognised (396 referrals in 2019 to 575 
in 2020).  

• Complicated Grief – those who contacted the service as a result of grief 
associated with COVID- 19, have presented with complicated grief triggered by 
not being able to see their loved ones during the pandemic.  

• Access via age groups – the service recognised an increase of referrals from 
the 17-25 age.  

• Change in pattern of access – the service has seen that more people 
accessing support earlier in their bereavement. Individuals have accessed 
support within 1 to 3 months of losing their loved one yet normally, around 
50% of client’s access bereavement support a year or more after the death.  

3.10 Suicide Prevention  

In February 2021, key members from the Solihull Suicide Prevention Steering Group 
attended a Strategy Refresh workshop to discuss and review; the achievements of the 
current suicide prevention strategy, the current evidence base/data, and the future 
needs for Solihull.  The outcomes of the workshop will be discussed at the next 
steering group meeting in June 2021. 

3.11 Domestic Abuse  

A more detailed update report has been circulated to the Board. In summary the Local 
Authority has been advised that in 2021/22 we will receive £420,000 extra duties 
burden grant from MHCLG. There is a commitment to provide continuation funding in 

Page 15



 

 
 

subsequent years with the amount to be determined annually. While we welcome the 
additional resources, it does pose some problems in terms of commissioning. To date 
we have largely managed via short term contracts whilst we awaited clarity of our new 
responsibilities emerging from the Domestic Abuse Act 2020. The intention is to use 
this year’s funding to bridge services, whilst we undertake planning for a wide scale 
comprehensive commissioning plan with a view to re-commission by summer 2022. 
There are benefits to the council, partners, specialist providers and victims in having 
3-5 year commissioned services. This however, does require a financial commitment 
from leadership as there are risks should the MHCLG grant reduce. Although, the 
statutory duties would remain.  

In terms of progress with compliance of the new duties, a new Domestic Abuse 
Partnership Board has been established and we are currently preparing to contract 
with an independent consultancy company to undertake our Needs Assessment and 
Strategy. This is expected to be ready for publication by August 2021, as required.  

However, adequate provision of ‘Domestic Abuse Safe Accommodation’ is a much 
more complex requirement, primarily because high property prices may have 
restricted investment, and this has led limited suitable properties for providers to 
utilise. In summary, the grant provides the funding for specialist support but we are 
likely to struggle to locate properties to commission against.  Our current refuge 
provision will be compliant but based on headline figures we can expect a significant 
gap between demand for ‘Domestic Abuse Safe Accommodation’ and provision. 
There is currently a task group working to the Domestic Abuse Partnership Board to 
explore options around this.  

3.12 Air Quality (AQ) Strategy Delivery  

The Solihull Clean Air Strategy focuses on actions led by Solihull Council to improve 
air quality across the borough. The themes identified for action within the strategy are 
those deemed to have the greatest impact on improving air quality within Solihull. The 
themes are: Education; Planning; Transport; Environment; Public Messaging & 
Procurement.   

A report summarising progress against the Clean Air Strategy and Air Quality 
Monitoring Annual Update was presented to the Economic Development and 
Managed Growth Scrutiny Board on the 18th January. The main points were:- 

The pandemic has had an impact upon the delivery of the Air Quality Action Plan in 
particular delivering the public communications plan and working with businesses and 
schools has been difficult. Therefore, timescales for the completion of a number of 
tasks within the action plan are currently being reviewed by the Solihull Air Quality 
Steering Group. 

Initiatives with schools within the borough to raise the air quality agenda has 
continued wherever possible, the electric vehicle charging infrastructure in the 
borough is under review and the Council’s Walking and Cycling Strategy and 
Infrastructure Plan had been taken to public consultation from which a number of 
areas had been identified for further improvement and development. 

Other initiatives and strategies that were being undertaken to both support and deliver 
the cleaner air agenda within the borough included the Net Zero Action Plan (in 

Page 16



 

 
 

progress), Tree Planting Project (objective of planting 25,000 trees in the borough), 
supporting delivery of the Council’s Climate Emergency Statement. 

The results from air quality monitoring at 22 sites across the borough indicates that no 
site exceeded NO2 limits during last year. Monitoring will continue throughout next 
year. 

3.13 Solihull Active – Solihull on the Move  

The pandemic has seen the number of adults being active fall by 7% and the number 
of inactive people increase by the same amount, so there is yet more work to 
encourage people back to regular exercise, attract inactive populations into physical 
activity and capitalise on the interest in outdoor activity. 

The evidence shows that those that have found it hardest to be active through the 
pandemic have been: 

• People with long term conditions and with a disability; 
• People from the lower social economic groups; 
• Women; 
• 16-34 age group; 
• The 55 plus; and 
• Black, Asian and other ethnic groups. 

With reductions in children’s physical activity as well, although not by the same extent, 
further work is needed across the system to increase activity levels accepting for 
some a return to school will be a great help in this.  

Planning work on new Solihull on the move initiatives such as cycling, table tennis and 
running has continued and we’ll start to see these initiatives land as lockdown lifts. 

In light of this evidence a priority will be to review the Solihull on the move plans and 
take account of these factors as existing plans are rolled out 

3.14 Solihull Active – Leisure Centres and Public Health Physical Activity 
Programming  

Leisure centre closures and restricted opening has limited activity severely. This has 
had a wider impact with our long term condition rehabilitation and condition 
management programmes that had to stop along with our GP referral programme, 
DocSpot. The health impacts of Covid-19 will be reflected upon as these services 
recommence. 

In addition to the leisure centres, the Public Health physical activity programme run by 
Solihull Active has equally been curtailed with our walking for health programme 
suspended, eat well move more family weight management programme significantly 
reduced, community programming stopped, for example. Restarting these services at 
the right time will be crucial. 

With rising unemployment and some parts of the community potentially being reluctant 
to return to some activity or facilities in the shorter term which will have to be factored 
into service planning and marketing. 

Page 17



 

 
 

3.15 Solihull Active – Active Communities programme 

With the extension of the Active Communities programme there is an opportunity to 
work with the local voluntary and community sector (VCS) to widen this programme 
out and pick up on the inactive populations hit hard by the pandemic. 

4. What options have been considered and what is the evidence telling us about 
them? 

4.1 N/A 

5. Reasons for recommending preferred option 

5.1 N/A 

6. Implications and Considerations 

6.1 How the proposals in this report contribute to the delivery of Council Plan priorities: 

Priority: Contribution: 

Securing inclusive economic growth.  Yes 

Planning & delivery for Solihull’s low 
carbon future (to include biodiversity 
implications). 

N/A 

Managing demand and expectation 
for public services.  

Yes 

Developing our approach to services 
for adults and children with complex 
needs.  

Yes 

Making the best use of our people 
and physical assets. 

Yes 

6.2 Consultation and Scrutiny: 

6.2.1 N/A 

6.3 Financial implications: 

6.3.1 N/A 

6.4 Legal implications: 

6.4.1 N/A 

6.5 Risk implications: 

6.5.1 N/A 

Page 18



 

 
 

6.6 Equality implications: 

6.6.1 N/A 

7. List of appendices referred to 

7.1 N/A 

8. Background papers used to compile this report 

8.1 N/A 

9. List of other relevant documents 

9.1 N/A 

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Minutes
	5 Cabinet Member Review of Priorities including work of Health & Wellbeing Board
	1. Purpose of Report
	1.1 For Health & Adult Social Care Scrutiny Board to note the progress made against Cabinet Member priorities for 2020/21.

	2. Decision(s) recommended
	2.1 For noting.

	3. Matters for Consideration
	3.1 Ongoing Covid-19 Impact Management
	Our Covid response has been a major focus in 2020/21. As well as requiring a significant response, led by the Strategic Response Group and supported by the Local Outbreak Management Board and dedicated Incident Management Teams, it has also had an imp...
	Throughout this, regular updates have been provided through formal and informal channels including the Health and Well-being Board, Council and bi-weekly informal briefings for HASCSB members, led by the Director of Public Health.
	The pandemic has seen the establishment by SMBC of dedicated support for people who are clinical extremely vulnerable, a contact tracing service which continues to be expanded with further localisation of the national service in train to support the o...
	SMBC has also played a key role in Covid prevention and Covid secure measures: this has been wide ranging in scope covering PPE supply, advice and guidance to front-line staff and providers, Covid secure measures in our town centres and public spaces ...
	Business, retail and workplace compliance has also been a key part of our response, working directly with key sectors and working with our environmental health, specialist public health and enforcement capacity.
	The Local Outbreak Management Plan which describes our strategic response to the on-going pandemic over the next few months is being updated to describe what needs to be in place to retain key aspects of our response to manage any surge in cases or ou...
	A hospital admission avoidance pilot service has been commissioned by the Council and CCG to provide an immediate response where an unnecessary hospital admission would have otherwise been needed.  This service is part of the local response to Covid-1...
	Known as the Solihull Community Rapid Intervention Service (SCRIS), the service can be used by people identified by community health or social care professionals as experiencing a crisis.   The service is delivered by Universal Care Services and has b...
	SCRIS offers short-term support for up to 2 weeks.  There is no charge for the service. SCRIS has so far supported 40 people in urgent situations, enabling them to remain at home.  All have received a response within 2 hours of the need being identifi...
	A pilot Home Discharge Service (HDS) has also been commissioned from Nationwide Care Services.  This service is intended to prevent delay in being able to return home after a hospital stay.  It supports the principle of ‘Home First’, the national poli...
	The HDS began on 12th November 2020 offering support 7 days a week, from 8am-8pm.  The service has so far supported 260 people, with 96% having a service response on the same day as referral.
	Both SCRIS and HDS have accepted 100% of all referrals, including those identified as Covid positive.  They are able also to demonstrate high levels of satisfaction from their customers. The Covid-19 funding for both services ends at the end of March ...
	Care Sector Workforce: The care sector workforce has operated with outstanding dedication and compassion during the pandemic, adapting to the demands of infection control measures and striving to protect the most vulnerable to infection.  Additional c...
	Care Home Visiting: During the last year, a prolonged period without face to face visiting for care home residents was needed to minimise the risk of infection. From March 8th, new guidance came into effect in which each care home resident will be ent...
	Outbreaks: Covid-19 outbreaks have been monitored daily, with advice and support offered to community and care home services to protect residents and assist staff with expertise, when needed.  After a further period of high levels of infection affecti...
	The Adult Care and Support response to Covid-19 has continued to be flexible in line with impact on services and demand. The impact of Covid-19 has been closely monitored and additional resources have been procured to ensure that people continue to re...

	3.2 Health and Well-being Strategy
	The Health and Wellbeing Strategy was updated in 2020 to reflect shifting priorities due to the response and impact of Covid-19. There were significant updates to the objectives in Priority 2: Adulthood and Work, and the addition of Priority 5: All-ag...

	3.3 Health Inequalities
	In developing the Health Inequalities Strategy and Action Plan, we have adopted a three-step-process:

	 Step 1: Understand where we are now: our strengths, weaknesses, threats and opportunities
	 Step 2: Establish where Solihull wants to be: a collective understanding, leading to priority setting
	 Step 3: Plan how we will get there: a shared action plan
	Step 1 was an evidence gathering process to establish what we know about health inequalities in our area today. This drew on relevant national, regional and local data, before and during Covid-19. For example, our JSNA, local impact of Covid-19 on ine...
	Step 2. Having reviewed the available evidence, we produced a long list of 9 potential action areas and brought partners together to prioritise a smaller number.
	Step 3. Once broad priorities were agreed we sought pledges for action against each of the priority areas, forming a shared action plan.
	We are currently at step 3 with provisional priorities and action plans agreed.
	More engagement is planned to shape these priorities further.  This includes engagement within the Council and with key Health and Wellbeing Board partners (including education and schools, local primary care networks and the emerging Integrated Care ...
	The West Midlands Combined Authority are also actively looking at how they can add value to the health inequalities work at a sub-regional level and we are engaged in this work to ensure that there are clear links between the two.
	A key immediate system priority has also been local work to ensure an equitable roll out of Covid-vaccine to eligible groups. This includes proactively engaging residents known to have low uptake of the Covid-19 vaccine, through for example, community...

	3.4 Immunisations and Vaccinations
	Vaccination roll-out is progressing at pace led by the NHS with support from the local authority to identify lower uptake communities and to liaise with community groups and community leadership. The Director of Public Health co-leads a joint Vaccine ...
	Ensuring a high take-up of Covid-19 vaccination among the workforce has been a key priority. The local authority was tasked with identifying employers and working with the local vaccination delivery systems to see that care workers in the first priori...
	In our in-borough care homes there has been strong take up of the vaccine, with over 90% of residents now vaccinated. Where residents have been unable to take up the vaccine when first offered, there are follow-ups arranged. The delivery of second dos...

	3.5 Later Life Accommodation
	Since July 2020 there have been several new later life care accommodation options opened. These include Connaught House operated by Restful Homes, a home specialising in care for older people with mental health conditions and Shirley Retirement Villag...
	Work is underway on an assessment of future needs for community accommodation with care. This will form part of future market position statements to inform and enable developers to understand the balance of provision needed to ensure that residents’ n...

	3.6 Commissioning services to reduce social isolation and support mental wellbeing
	To respond to Covid-19, the Social Isolation and Loneliness Group, set up a multiagency Task and Finish Group to implement a Digital Pilot Project. The aims of the project are to address digital exclusion in Solihull, by creating opportunities for com...
	In January 2021 we commissioned Solihull Age UK to facilitate the pilot project. We currently have 13 Volunteer Digital Champions who are supporting the delivery of the pilot. We have received 19 expressions of interest from residents. 6 of these have...
	Through a funding application, Solihull Libraries secured 10 laptops that will be used in the pilot. A report summarising the feedback from the pilot will be available in April 2021.

	3.7 Digital
	Digital has never been more important in Adult Social Care. Additional resources have been supporting advancement of use of digital to support people with care and needs. This has included access to the right technology and skills support for staff. S...
	Adult Care and Support have also been involved in a national roll out of iPads to support care home residents to keep in touch with health and social care professionals and their friends and families. The development of Liquid Logic has continued, inc...
	Web pages have also been simplified to enable people to access accurate information and advice at a time convenient for them.

	3.8 Mental Health and Wellbeing
	Solihull MBC are represented on the multi-agency BSol Mental Health Resilience meeting. We regularly service demand across the spectrum of mental health and agree systematic responses to address need. Solihull MBC have supported with the development a...
	 Single Point of Access Mental Health Helpline: BSOL CCG launched the Mental Health Helpline at the start of pandemic. The Helpline offers support for all levels of mental health, including suicidal ideation, and is monitored on a weekly basis. In Ma...
	 Single Point of Access Bereavement Service: Solihull MBC collaborated with BSOL CCG to model and develop a single point of access bereavement service for the residents of Solihull and Birmingham. The service offers support for all ages, and all mode...
	Mental Health Communications: Solihull MBC have supported with the development and promotion of the communications for both Mental Health and Bereavement.

	3.9 Bereavement Support
	In response to the global pandemic, SMBC worked in collaboration with BSol CCG, to support the development of a single point of access for Bereavement Services. The service started 1st June 2020.
	The Bereavement Pathway consists of a collaboration between five providers; Cruse Bereavement, Solihull Bereavement, Marie Curie, Beyond the Horizon and Edwards Trust to offer an array of bereavement support to the population of Birmingham and Solihul...
	The pathway provides the primary point of contact, immediate support through triage and online resource as well as offering one to one and group support for complex needs. The support is offered in a confidential coordinated way, with specialist suppo...
	The latest report has analysed the data from 1st June 2020 to the end of November 2020. The keys findings indicate;
	 An increase in demand - Between June and November 2020, a total of 1235 people made contact with the Bereavement Service Single Point of Access line. 776 people were offered specialised bereavement support between, and instant support through referr...
	 Using comparison data from June to November 2019 and June to November 2020, an increase of 176 referrals was recognised (396 referrals in 2019 to 575 in 2020).
	 Complicated Grief – those who contacted the service as a result of grief associated with COVID- 19, have presented with complicated grief triggered by not being able to see their loved ones during the pandemic.
	 Access via age groups – the service recognised an increase of referrals from the 17-25 age.
	 Change in pattern of access – the service has seen that more people accessing support earlier in their bereavement. Individuals have accessed support within 1 to 3 months of losing their loved one yet normally, around 50% of client’s access bereavem...

	3.10 Suicide Prevention
	In February 2021, key members from the Solihull Suicide Prevention Steering Group attended a Strategy Refresh workshop to discuss and review; the achievements of the current suicide prevention strategy, the current evidence base/data, and the future n...

	3.11 Domestic Abuse
	A more detailed update report has been circulated to the Board. In summary the Local Authority has been advised that in 2021/22 we will receive £420,000 extra duties burden grant from MHCLG. There is a commitment to provide continuation funding in sub...
	In terms of progress with compliance of the new duties, a new Domestic Abuse Partnership Board has been established and we are currently preparing to contract with an independent consultancy company to undertake our Needs Assessment and Strategy. This...
	However, adequate provision of ‘Domestic Abuse Safe Accommodation’ is a much more complex requirement, primarily because high property prices may have restricted investment, and this has led limited suitable properties for providers to utilise. In sum...

	3.12 Air Quality (AQ) Strategy Delivery
	The Solihull Clean Air Strategy focuses on actions led by Solihull Council to improve air quality across the borough. The themes identified for action within the strategy are those deemed to have the greatest impact on improving air quality within Sol...
	A report summarising progress against the Clean Air Strategy and Air Quality Monitoring Annual Update was presented to the Economic Development and Managed Growth Scrutiny Board on the 18th January. The main points were:-
	The pandemic has had an impact upon the delivery of the Air Quality Action Plan in particular delivering the public communications plan and working with businesses and schools has been difficult. Therefore, timescales for the completion of a number of...
	Initiatives with schools within the borough to raise the air quality agenda has continued wherever possible, the electric vehicle charging infrastructure in the borough is under review and the Council’s Walking and Cycling Strategy and Infrastructure ...
	Other initiatives and strategies that were being undertaken to both support and deliver the cleaner air agenda within the borough included the Net Zero Action Plan (in progress), Tree Planting Project (objective of planting 25,000 trees in the borough...
	The results from air quality monitoring at 22 sites across the borough indicates that no site exceeded NO2 limits during last year. Monitoring will continue throughout next year.

	3.13 Solihull Active – Solihull on the Move
	The pandemic has seen the number of adults being active fall by 7% and the number of inactive people increase by the same amount, so there is yet more work to encourage people back to regular exercise, attract inactive populations into physical activi...
	The evidence shows that those that have found it hardest to be active through the pandemic have been:
	With reductions in children’s physical activity as well, although not by the same extent, further work is needed across the system to increase activity levels accepting for some a return to school will be a great help in this.
	Planning work on new Solihull on the move initiatives such as cycling, table tennis and running has continued and we’ll start to see these initiatives land as lockdown lifts.
	In light of this evidence a priority will be to review the Solihull on the move plans and take account of these factors as existing plans are rolled out

	3.14 Solihull Active – Leisure Centres and Public Health Physical Activity Programming
	Leisure centre closures and restricted opening has limited activity severely. This has had a wider impact with our long term condition rehabilitation and condition management programmes that had to stop along with our GP referral programme, DocSpot. T...
	In addition to the leisure centres, the Public Health physical activity programme run by Solihull Active has equally been curtailed with our walking for health programme suspended, eat well move more family weight management programme significantly re...
	With rising unemployment and some parts of the community potentially being reluctant to return to some activity or facilities in the shorter term which will have to be factored into service planning and marketing.

	3.15 Solihull Active – Active Communities programme
	With the extension of the Active Communities programme there is an opportunity to work with the local voluntary and community sector (VCS) to widen this programme out and pick up on the inactive populations hit hard by the pandemic.


	4. What options have been considered and what is the evidence telling us about them?
	4.1 N/A

	5. Reasons for recommending preferred option
	5.1 N/A

	6. Implications and Considerations
	6.1 How the proposals in this report contribute to the delivery of Council Plan priorities:
	6.2 Consultation and Scrutiny:
	6.2.1 N/A

	6.3 Financial implications:
	6.3.1 N/A

	6.4 Legal implications:
	6.4.1 N/A

	6.5 Risk implications:
	6.5.1 N/A

	6.6 Equality implications:
	6.6.1 N/A


	Yes
	7. List of appendices referred to
	7.1 N/A

	8. Background papers used to compile this report
	8.1 N/A

	9. List of other relevant documents
	9.1 N/A



